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Dear Madam/ Sir, 

Pursuant to Regulation 30 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, this is to inform that 
pursuant to the Order dated 30th May 2022 read with Order dated 6th June 2022 ("Orders') of the Hon'ble National Company 
Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench ("Hon'ble Tribunal"), Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of Nestle India Limited 
("the Company") will be held through video conferencing ("VC')/ other audio visual means ("OAVM") on Monday, 25th July 2022 
at 4:00 P.M. (1ST) ("Meeting') for the purpose of considering, and if thought fit, approving the Scheme under Sections 230 to 
232 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act"), and other applicable provisions of the Act, read with the Companies (Compromises, 
Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016 ("CAA Rules"), and as set out in the Notice convening the Meeting. 

Please find enclosed electronic copy of the Notice of the Meeting, accompanying Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 
230(3) and other applicable provisions of the Act along with Scheme of Arrangement and all other annexures to the Explanatory 
Statement (collectively referred to as the "Particulars"), being sent by email to those Equity Shareholders, whose email 
addresses are registered with the Company/ Depository Participants(s). For those Equity Shareholders, who have not 
registered their email address, hard copies of the Particulars are being sent at their registered address through Registered 
Post/ Speed Post. The Particulars are also being uploaded on the website of the Company at www.nestle.in, National Securities 
Depository Limited at www.evoting.nsdl.com. We request you to also upload these Particulars on BSE's website 
www.bseindia.com. 

Further, in terms of the Orders read with Section 108 of the Act and Rule 20 of the Companies (Management & Administration) 
Rules, 2014 (as amended), the Company is providing its Equity Shareholders facility to exercise their right to vote, on the 
proposed resolution, (i) remotely, using an electronic voting system on the dates mentioned herein below ('remote e-voting"); 
and (ii) at the Meeting by electronic means. 

The Company has fixed 18th July 2022 as the cut-off date to determine the eligibility of the Equity Shareholders to cast their 
vote by electronic means and e-voting at the Meeting scheduled to be held on Monday, 25th July 2022 through VC/ OAVM. 
The voting through remote e-voting by the Equity Shareholders will commence on 22nd July 2022 at 9:00 A.M. (1ST} and shall 
end on 24th July 2022 at 5:00 P.M. (1ST). 

The procedure and instructions for joining the Meeting through VC/ OAVM and the manner of participation in the remote 
e-voting or casting vote through the e-voting system at the Meeting are outlined in the Notes provided in the Notice of the 
Meeting. 

This is for your information and further dissemination. 

Thanking you, 

Yours very truly, 
NESTLE INDl1 LIMITED 

~~t' 
B.MURLI / 
GENERAL COUNSEL & COMPANY SECRETARY 
Encl.: as above 

Regd. Office: 100 / 101, World Trade Centre, Barakhamba Lane, New Delhi - 110 001 
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NOTICE OF THE MEETING OF THE EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF NESTLÉ INDIA LIMITED
(CONVENED PURSUANT TO THE ORDER DATED 30TH MAY 2022 READ WITH ORDER DATED 6TH JUNE 2022 PASSED BY THE 

HON’BLE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL, NEW DELHI BENCH)

DETAILS OF THE MEETING:
Day Monday
Date 25th July 2022 
Time 4:00 P.M. (IST)
Mode As per the directions of the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench, the Meeting shall be 

conducted through Video Conferencing or Other Audio-Visual Means

REMOTE E-VOTING AND E-VOTING AT THE MEETING:
Cut Off Date for e-voting 18th July 2022
Remote e‐voting commencing on 22nd July 2022 at 9:00 A.M. (IST)
Remote e‐voting ending on 24th July 2022 at 5:00 P.M. (IST)
E-voting at the Meeting As may be instructed by the Chairperson of the Meeting, during the proceedings of 

the Meeting.
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BEFORE THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL,
NEW DELHI BENCH

CA (CAA) No. 30/230/232/ND/2022

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

AND 

IN THE MATTER OF:

An application under Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013.

AND

IN THE MATTER OF:

Scheme of Arrangement between Nestlé India Limited and its
Shareholders under Sections 230 to 232 and other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

AND

IN THE MATTER OF:

NESTLÉ INDIA LIMITED, (CIN: L15202DL1959PLC003786, PAN: AAACN0757G), 
a public limited company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, having its 
Registered Office at 100/101, World Trade Centre, Barakhamba Lane, New Delhi -110001.

…Applicant Company

NOTICE CONVENING MEETING OF THE EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF NESTLÉ INDIA LIMITED

To,
The Equity Shareholders of 
Nestlé India Limited

NOTICE is hereby given that pursuant to the Order dated 30th May 2022 read with Order dated 6th June 2022 (“Orders”) of the 
Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench (“Tribunal” or “NCLT”), a Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of 
Nestlé India Limited, (“Applicant Company”), will be held for the purpose of considering, and if thought fit, approving, with or
without modification, the proposed Scheme of Arrangement between the Applicant Company and its Shareholders (“Scheme”).

In view of the above, further notice is hereby given that a Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company will be held
through Video Conferencing or Other Audio-Visual Means (“VC/ OAVM”), in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) read with the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 and SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”), on Monday, 25th July 2022 at 4:00 P.M. (IST) to consider,
and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution, with or without modification, for approval of the Scheme by requisite majority,
as prescribed under Section 230 read with Section 232 of the Act:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Compromises, 
Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016, and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013, the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended from time to time, and the
provisions of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of Nestlé India Limited (“Applicant Company”) and subject to the sanction of
the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench (“the Hon’ble Tribunal”), and subject to such other approvals, permissions 
and sanctions of regulatory and other authorities, as may be necessary, and subject to such conditions and modifications as may be prescribed 
or imposed by the Hon’ble Tribunal or by any regulatory or other authorities, while granting such consents, approvals and permissions, which
may be agreed to by the Board of Directors of the Applicant Company (hereinafter referred to as the “Board”, which term shall be deemed 
to mean and include one or more Committee(s) constituted/empowered/ to be constituted by the Board or any other person authorised by it to
exercise its powers including the powers conferred by this resolution), the Scheme of Arrangement between Nestlé India Limited and its 
Shareholders (“Scheme”) presented in Company Application (CAA) No.30/230/232/ND/2022 filed by the Applicant Company before the
Hon’ble Tribunal, be and is hereby approved and that the Board be and is hereby authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things,
as it may, in its absolute discretion deem requisite, desirable, appropriate or necessary to give effect to this resolution and effectively
implement the arrangement embodied in the Scheme and to accept such modifications, amendments, limitations and/or conditions, if any, 
which may be required and/or imposed by the Hon’ble Tribunal or its appellate authority(ies)/while sanctioning the arrangement embodied 
in the Scheme or by any authorities under law, or as may be required for the purpose of resolving any questions or doubts or difficulties that
may arise in giving effect to the Scheme, as the Board may deem fit and proper.”
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TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Equity Shareholders shall have the facility and option of voting on the resolution for approval of the 
Scheme by casting their votes through e-voting system available at the Meeting held through VC/ OAVM on Monday, 25th July 2022
at 4:00 P.M. (IST) or by remote electronic voting (“remote e-voting”) during the period as stated below:

REMOTE E-VOTING
Commencement of voting 22nd July 2022 at 9:00 A.M. (IST)
End of Voting 24th July 2022 at 5:00 P.M. (IST)

A person, whose name is recorded in the Register of Members or in the Register of Beneficial Owners maintained by the 
depositories as on the cut-off date i.e. 18th July 2022 (“Cut-Off Date”) shall be entitled to avail the facility of remote e-voting
or casting vote through e-voting system during the Meeting.

A copy of the accompanying Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 230(3) and other applicable provisions of the Act along 
with Scheme of Arrangement and all other annexures to the Explanatory Statement are enclosed herewith and can also be
obtained free of charge at the Registered Office of the Applicant Company or at the office of its Advocate, Mr. Anirudh Das, Shardul 
Amarchand Mangaldas & Co., Amarchand Towers, 216, Okhla Industrial Estate, Phase-III, New Delhi-110020. A copy of this
Notice and the aforesaid documents are also placed on the website of the Applicant Company at www.nestle.in, BSE Limited at 
www.bseindia.com and National Securities Depositories Limited (“NSDL”) at www.evoting.nsdl.com, being the agency appointed 
by the Applicant Company to provide the remote e-voting and other facilities for convening of the Meeting.

The Hon’ble Tribunal has appointed Mr. Abhinav Vasisht, Senior Advocate, to be the Chairperson of the said Meeting of the 
Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company, Mr. Vipul Ganda, Advocate, as the Alternate Chairperson and Mr. Rajiv 
Adlakha, Associate Member of Institute of Company Secretaries of India (Membership Number: ACS 8388 and Certificate 
of Practice Number: 3508), to be the Scrutinizer for the said Meeting.

The Scheme, if approved at the aforesaid Meeting, will be subject to the subsequent sanction of the Hon’ble Tribunal.

Dated : 9th June 2022
Place : New Delhi

Sd/-
Abhinav Vasisht

Senior Advocate
Chairperson appointed for the Meeting

Notes for the Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company
1. The Explanatory Statement pursuant to Sections 102, 230(3) and 232(2) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) read with 

Rule 6 of the Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016 (“CAA Rules”) and SEBI Circular 
No. CFD/DIL3/CIR/2017/21 dated 10th March 2017, each as amended from time to time (to the extent applicable), in respect 
of the business set out above is annexed hereto.

2. Pursuant to the directions of the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench (“the Hon’ble Tribunal”)
given vide its Orders dated 30th May 2022 read with Order dated 6th June 2022 (“Orders”), the Meeting of the Equity 
Shareholders of the Applicant Company (“Meeting”) is being convened on Monday, 25th July 2022, at 4:00 P.M. (IST) through 
Video Conferencing/ Other Audio-Visual Means (‘VC/ OAVM’) in accordance with provisions of the Act read with Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014, General Circular Nos. 14/2020 dated 8th April 2020, 17/2020 dated 13th April 
2020, 22/2020 dated 15th June 2020, 33/2020 dated 28th September 2020, 39/2020 dated 31st December 2020, 10/2021 dated 
23rd June 2021, 20/2021 dated 8th December 2021 and 3/2022 dated 5th May 2022, issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, 
Government of India (“MCA Circulars”) and SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015
(“Listing Regulations”), to transact the business set out in the Notice convening this Meeting, which does not require physical 
presence of the Equity Shareholders at a common venue. The deemed venue for the Meeting shall be the Registered Office of 
the Applicant Company.

3. In terms of the Orders of the Hon’ble Tribunal and MCA Circulars, the Meeting is being held through VC/ OAVM, which 
does not require physical presence of the Equity Shareholders, therefore, there is no requirement of appointment of proxy.
Accordingly, the facility of appointment of proxy by Equity Shareholders under Section 105 of the Act will not be available 
for this Meeting.

4. Institutional shareholders, bodies corporate etc. (i.e. other than individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) may upload legible scanned
certified true copy (PDF/JPG Format) of the relevant Board Resolution/ Power of Attorney/ Authority letter etc. for authorizing 
such representative to participate and vote at the Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company by clicking 
on “Upload Board Resolution/ Authority Letter” displayed under “e-voting” tab in their login or may send the same by 
email to investor@in.nestle.com not later than 48 (forty eight) hours before the scheduled time of the commencement of the 
Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company with a copy marked to evoting@nsdl.co.in.
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5. As mentioned in the Order dated 30th May 2022, the quorum for the Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant 
Company shall be 75% in value and in case the quorum as mentioned above for the Meeting is not present at the Meeting, then 
the Meeting shall be adjourned by half an hour and thereafter, the persons present shall be deemed to constitute the quorum. 

6. Equity Shareholders may join the Meeting through VC/ OAVM by following the procedure as mentioned below which shall 
be kept open for the Equity Shareholders from 3:30 P.M. (IST) i.e. 30 minutes before the scheduled time to start the Meeting.

7. The Notice along with accompanying Explanatory Statement and all other annexures is being sent by email to all the Equity 
Shareholders at their registered email address whose names appear in the List of Equity Shareholders as on 4th March 2022.
The Notice along with the accompanying Explanatory Statement is being sent by Registered Post/ Speed Post to the Equity 
Shareholders who have not registered their email address with the Applicant Company. Further, Equity Shareholders may note 
that the Notice and the aforesaid documents will also be available on the website of the Applicant Company at www.nestle.in,
BSE Limited at www.bseindia.com and National Securities Depositories Limited (“NSDL”) at www.evoting.nsdl.com. Since 
the Meeting will be held through VC/ OAVM, route map and attendance slip are not attached to this Notice.

8. Any Equity Shareholder is desirous of obtaining hard copy of the Notice and the accompanying documents, i.e., Scheme and the 
Statement under Sections 230 and 232 read with Section 102 and other applicable provisions of the Act and Rule 6 of the CAA 
Rules etc., request may be sent to the Applicant Company’s email at investor@in.nestle.com mentioning their Folio No./ DP ID 
and Client ID or send written communication to the registered office of the Applicant Company.

9. In case of joint holders, the Equity Shareholder whose name appears as the first holder in the order of the names as per the Register 
of Members of the Applicant Company or in the Register of Beneficial Owners maintained by the depositories as on the Cut-Off
Date, will be entitled to participate and vote at the Meeting.

10. The notice convening the Meeting will be published through advertisement in (i) Delhi and Mumbai edition of Financial Express 
in the English language; and (ii) translation thereof in Delhi edition of Jansatta in Hindi language as mentioned in the Order dated 
30th May 2022 and as per the requirements of Section 230 of the Act in Form No. CAA – 2 as prescribed under the CAA Rules.

11. Equity Shareholders, whose email address is not registered with the Applicant Company or with their respective Depository 
Participant(s), and who wish to receive the Notice of this Meeting and all other communication sent by the Applicant Company, 
from time to time, can get their email address registered by following the steps as given below: -

a. Equity Shareholders holding shares in physical form may send scan copy of a signed request letter mentioning the folio 
number, complete address, email address to be registered along with scanned self-attested copy of the PAN and any document 
(such as Passport, Bank Statement, AADHAR) supporting the registered address of the Equity Shareholders, by email to the 
Applicant Company’s email address at investor@in.nestle.com.

b. Equity Shareholders holding shares in demat mode may update the email address through their respective Depository 
Participant(s).

General instructions for accessing and participating in the Meeting through VC/ OAVM facility and voting through electronic 
means including remote e-voting: -

A. Instructions for Equity Shareholders for Remote e-voting are as under: 

➢ In terms of the Orders of the Hon’ble Tribunal and in accordance with Section 230(4) of the Act read with the CAA 
Rules and the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 and Listing Regulations, the Equity 
Shareholders of the Applicant Company shall have facility to exercise their right to vote on the resolution proposed to 
be passed (i) remotely, using an electronic voting system (“remote e-voting”); and (ii) at the Meeting by electronic 
means (“e-voting at the Meeting”). The remote e-voting period will commence from 22nd July 2022 (9:00 A.M. IST) 
and end on 24th July 2022 (5:00 P.M. IST). During this period, Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company, holding 
shares either in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on the Cut-Off Date, may cast their vote electronically. The 
voting right of Equity Shareholders shall be in proportion to their share in the paid-up equity share capital of the 
Applicant Company as on the Cut-Off Date. Once the vote on a resolution is cast by the Equity Shareholder through 
remote e-voting or e-voting at the Meeting, the Equity Shareholder shall not be allowed to change it subsequently.

➢ A person who is not an Equity Shareholder as on the Cut-Off Date should treat this Notice of the Meeting for information 
purpose only. 

➢ The details of the process and manner for remote e-voting are explained herein below: 

- Step 1: Log-in to NSDL e-voting system at https://www.evoting.nsdl.com
- Step 2: Cast your vote electronically on NSDL e-voting system.

Step 1: How to Log-in to NSDL e-voting website?

I. Login method for e-voting and joining Meeting through VC/ OAVM for Individual Equity Shareholders 
holding securities in demat mode 

In terms of SEBI Circular dated 9th December 2020 on “e-voting facility provided by Listed Companies”, e-voting 
process has been enabled to all the individual demat account holders, by way of single login credential, through their 
demat account(s)/ websites of Depositories/ Depository Participant(s) (“DPs”) in order to increase the efficiency of the 
voting process. Individual demat account holders would be able to cast their vote without having to register again with 
the e-voting service provider (“ESP”) thereby not only facilitating seamless authentication but also ease and 
convenience of participating in e-voting process.

Equity Shareholders are advised to update their mobile number and email address with their DPs to access e-voting 
facility. 
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Login method for Individual Equity Shareholders holding securities in demat mode is given below:

Type of Equity Shareholders Login Method
Individual Equity Shareholders 
holding securities in demat 
mode with NSDL

I. NSDL IDeAS Facility

A. Users registered for NSDL IDeAS facility:
a) Visit the e-Services website of NSDL viz. https://eservices.nsdl.com either 

on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. 
b) On the e-Services home page click on the “Beneficial Owner” icon 

under “Login” which is available under ‘IDeAS’ section.
c) You will be prompted to enter your existing User ID and Password. 

After successful authentication, you will be able to see “e-voting
services” under Value added services. Click on “Access to e-voting”
under e-voting services and you will be able to see e-voting page. 

d) Click on the Company name or e-voting service provider i.e. NSDL 
and you will be re-directed to e-voting website of NSDL for casting 
your vote during the remote e-voting period or joining the Meeting
through VC/ OAVM or voting at the Meeting.

B. Users not registered for NSDL IDeAS facility: 
a) Option to register is available at https://eservices.nsdl.com.
b) Select “Register Online for IDeAS Portal” or click at

https://eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/IdeasDirectReg.jsp
c) Proceed to complete the registration using your DP ID, Client ID, Mobile 

Number etc.
d) Upon successful registration, please follow the steps given under point 

(I)(A) above.

II. E-voting website of NSDL 

a) Visit the e-voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the 
following URL: https://www.evoting.nsdl.com/ either on a Personal 
Computer or on a mobile. Once the home page of e-voting system is 
launched, click on the icon “Login” which is available under 
‘Shareholder/ Member’ section. 

b) A new screen will open. You will have to enter your User ID (i.e. your 
sixteen-digit demat account number hold with NSDL), Password/ OTP and 
a Verification Code as shown on the screen. After successful 
authentication, you will be redirected to NSDL Depository site wherein 
you can see e-voting page. 

c) Click on the Company name or e-voting service provider i.e. NSDL and 
you will be redirected to e-voting website of NSDL for casting your vote 
during the remote e-voting period or joining Meeting through VC/ OAVM 
& voting at the Meeting.

III. E-voting mobile application of NSDL

Equity Shareholders can also download NSDL Mobile App “NSDL Speede”
facility by scanning the QR code mentioned below for seamless voting 
experience.
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Individual Equity Shareholders 
holding securities in demat 
mode with Central Depository 
Services (India) Limited
(“CDSL”)

Existing users who have opted for Easi/ Easiest 

a) Login through their user id and password. Option will be made available 
to reach e-voting page without any further authentication. 

b) The URL for users to login to Easi/ Easiest are
https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/home/login or www.cdslindia.com and 
click on New System Myeasi.

c) After successful login of Easi/ Easiest the user will be also able to see the                   
e-voting Menu. The Menu will have links of e-voting service provider i.e., 
NSDL. Click on NSDL to cast your vote. 

Users not registered for Easi/ Easiest 

Option to register is available at https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/ 
Registration/EasiRegistration.

Visit the e-voting website of CDSL 
a) Alternatively, the user can directly access e-voting page by providing 

Demat Account Number and PAN from a link in www.cdslindia.com home 
page. The system will authenticate the user by sending OTP on registered 
Mobile & Email address, as recorded in the Demat Account. 

b) After successful authentication, user will be provided links for the 
respective ESP i.e., NSDL where the e-voting is in progress.

Individual Equity Shareholders 
(holding securities in demat 
mode) login through their
Depository Participant(s)

a) Equity Shareholders can also login using the login credentials of their 
demat account through Depository Participant(s) registered with NSDL/ 
CDSL for e-voting facility. 

b) Upon logging in, you will be able to see e-voting option. 
c) Click on e-voting option, you will be redirected to NSDL/ CDSL 

Depository site after successful authentication, wherein you can see                      
e-voting feature. 

d) Click on the Company name or e-voting service provider i.e., NSDL and 
you will be redirected to e-voting website of NSDL for casting your vote 
during the remote e-voting period or joining the Meeting through VC/ 
OAVM or voting at the Meeting.

Important note: Equity Shareholders who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget User 
ID and Forget Password option available at abovementioned website.

Helpdesk for Individual Equity Shareholders holding securities in demat mode for any technical issues 
related to login through Depository i.e. NSDL and CDSL.

 

Login type  Helpdesk details 
Individual Equity Shareholders
holding securities in demat 
mode with NSDL

Equity Shareholders facing any technical issue in login can contact NSDL 
helpdesk by sending a request at evoting@nsdl.co.in or call at toll free                       
no.: 18001020990 and 1800224430

Individual Equity Shareholders 
holding securities in demat 
mode with CDSL

Equity Shareholders facing any technical issue in login can contact CDSL 
helpdesk by sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact 
at 022-23058738 or 022-23058542-43

 
II. Login method for e-voting and joining the Meeting through VC/ OAVM for Individual Equity Shareholders 

holding securities in demat mode and Equity Shareholders holding securities in physical form

a) Visit the e-voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: 
https://www.evoting.nsdl.com/ either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. 

b) Once the home page of e-voting system is launched, click on the icon “Login” which is available under 
‘Shareholder/ Member’ section. 

c) A new screen will open. You will have to enter your User ID, your Password/ OTP and a Verification Code as 
shown on the screen. 

Alternatively, if you are registered for NSDL eservices i.e., IDeAS, you can log-in at 
https://eservices.nsdl.com/ with your existing IDeAS login. 

Once you log-in to NSDL e-services after using your log-in credentials, click on e-voting and you can proceed 
to Step 2 i.e., Cast your vote electronically.

d) Your User ID details are given below:

Manner of holding shares i.e. Demat 
(NSDL or CDSL) or Physical

Your User ID is:

For Equity Shareholders who hold 
shares in demat account with NSDL.

8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digit Client ID.

For example, if your DP ID is IN300*** and Client ID is 
12****** then your user ID is IN300***12******
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For Equity Shareholders who hold 
shares in demat account with CDSL.

16 Digit Beneficiary ID

For example, if your Beneficiary ID is 12************** then 
your user ID is 12**************

For Equity Shareholders holding shares 
in Physical Form.

EVEN Number followed by Folio Number registered with the 
Company

For example, if folio number is 001*** and EVEN is 120095 
then user ID is 120095001***

e) Password details for Equity Shareholders other than Individual Equity Shareholders are given below: 

i. If you are already registered for e-voting, then you can use your existing password to login and cast your 
vote. 

ii. If you are using NSDL e-voting system for the first time, you will need to retrieve the ‘initial password’ 
which was communicated to you. Once you retrieve your ‘initial password’, you need to enter the ‘initial 
password’ and the system will force you to change your password. 

iii. How to retrieve your ‘initial password’? 

➢ If your email address is registered in your demat account or with the Company, your ‘initial password’ 
is communicated to you on your email address. Trace the email sent to you from NSDL from your 
mailbox. Open the email and open the attachment i.e., a .pdf file. Open the .pdf file. The password to 
open the .pdf file is your 8-digit client ID for NSDL account, last 8 digits of client ID for CDSL account 
or folio number for shares held in physical form. The .pdf file contains your ‘User ID’ and your ‘initial
password’. 

➢ If your email address is not registered, please follow steps mentioned below in process for those Equity 
Shareholders whose email addresses are not registered. 

f) If you are unable to retrieve or have not received the ‘initial password’ or have forgotten your password: 

i. Click on “Forgot User Details/Password?” (If you are holding shares in your demat account with NSDL 
or CDSL) option available on www.evoting.nsdl.com.

ii. “Physical User Reset Password?” (If you are holding shares in physical form) option available on 
www.evoting.nsdl.com.

iii. If you are still unable to get the password by aforesaid two options, you can send a request at 
evoting@nsdl.co.in mentioning your demat account number/folio number, your PAN, your name and your 
registered address etc. 

iv. Equity Shareholders can also use the OTP (One Time Password) based login for casting the votes on the                   
e-voting system of NSDL. 

g) After entering your password, tick on Agree to “Terms and Conditions” by selecting on the check box. 

h) Now, you will have to click on “Login” button. 

i) After you click on the “Login” button, Home page of e-voting will open.

Step 2: Cast your vote electronically and join General Meeting on NSDL e-voting system. 

How to cast your vote electronically? 

a) After successful login at Step 1, you will be able to see all the companies “EVEN” in which you are holding shares 
and whose voting cycle and General Meeting is in active status.

b) Select “EVEN” of the Company for which you wish to cast your vote during the remote e-voting period and casting 
your vote at the General Meeting. For joining the Meeting, you need to click on “VC/ OAVM” link placed under 
“Join General Meeting”. 

c) Now you are ready for e-voting as the Voting page opens. 

d) Cast your vote by selecting appropriate options i.e., assent or dissent, verify/ modify the number of shares for 
which you wish to cast your vote and click on “Submit” and also “Confirm” when prompted. 

e) Upon confirmation, the message “Vote cast successfully” will be displayed. 

f) You can also take the printout of the votes cast by you by clicking on the print option on the confirmation page. 

g) Once you confirm your vote on the resolution(s), you will not be allowed to modify your vote. 

General Guidelines for Equity Shareholders 

➢ It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your password 
confidential. Login to the e-voting website will be disabled upon five unsuccessful attempts to key in the correct 
password. In such an event, you will need to go through the “Forgot User Details/ Password?” or “Physical User Reset 
Password?” option available on www.evoting.nsdl.com to reset the password. 

➢ In case of any queries, you may refer the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) for shareholders and e-voting user manual 
for Shareholders available at the download section of www.evoting.nsdl.com or call on toll free no.: 18001020990 and 

7



8

1800224430 or send a request to Ms. Pallavi Mhatre, Senior Manager, National Securities Depository Ltd., Trade World, 
‘A’ Wing, 4th Floor, Kamala Mills Compound, Senapati Bapat Marg, Lower Parel, Mumbai – 400013, at the designated 
email address: evoting@nsdl.co.in, who will also address the grievances connected with the voting by electronic means. 
Equity Shareholders may also write to the Company Secretary at the Company’s email address investor@in.nestle.com.

Process for those Equity Shareholders whose email address are not registered with the Company/ Depositories for 
procuring user id and password and registration of email address for e-voting for the resolution set out in this notice: 

a) In case shares are held in physical form please provide a signed request letter mentioning Folio No., Name of Equity 
Shareholder, scanned copy of the share certificate (front and back), PAN (self-attested scanned copy of PAN card), 
AADHAR (self-attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) to the Company’s email address at investor@in.nestle.com.

b) In case shares are held in demat mode, to update their email address Equity Shareholders  are requested to provide 
DPID-CLID (16-digit DPID + CLID or 16-digit beneficiary ID), Name, client master or copy of Consolidated Account 
Statement, PAN (self-attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self-attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) to 
the Company’s email address at investor@in.nestle.com.

c) If you are an individual Equity Shareholder holding securities in demat mode, you are requested to refer to the login 
method explained at Step 1 (I) i.e., Login method for e-voting and joining Meeting through VC/ OAVM for Individual 
Equity Shareholders holding securities in demat mode. 

d) Alternatively, Equity Shareholders may send a request to NSDL at evoting@nsdl.co.in for procuring user id and 
password for e-voting by providing above mentioned documents. 

e) In terms of SEBI Circular dated 9th December 2020, on e-voting facility provided by listed companies, individual Equity 
Shareholders holding securities in demat mode are allowed to vote through their demat account maintained with 
Depositories and Depository Participant(s). Equity Shareholders are required to update their mobile number and email 
address correctly in their demat account in order to access e-voting facility. 

B. Instructions for Equity Shareholders for participating in the Meeting through VC/ OAVM are as under:

a) The Equity Shareholders will be provided with a facility to participate in the Meeting through VC/ OAVM through the 
NSDL e-voting system. Equity Shareholders may access the same by following the steps mentioned above for “Access 
to NSDL e-voting system”. The link for VC/ OAVM will be available in “Shareholder/ Member login” where the EVEN 
(“E-voting Event Number”) of the Company will be displayed. After successful login, the Equity Shareholders will be 
able to see the link of (“VC/ OAVM”) placed under the tab “Join General Meeting” against the name of the Company. 
On clicking this link, the Equity Shareholders will be able to participate in the Meeting. Please note that the Equity 
Shareholders who do not have the User ID and Password for e-voting or have forgotten the User ID/ Password may 
retrieve the same by following the remote e-voting instructions mentioned above in the notice, to avoid last minute rush. 

b) Equity Shareholders may join the Meeting through Laptops, Smartphones and Tablets. Further, Equity Shareholders 
should use Internet with a good speed to avoid any disturbance during the Meeting. Equity Shareholders will need the 
latest version of Chrome, Safari, Internet Explorer 11, MS Edge or Firefox. Please note that participants connecting 
from Smartphones or Tablets or through Laptops connecting via mobile hotspot may experience Audio/ Video loss due 
to fluctuation in their respective network. It is therefore recommended to use stable Wi-Fi or LAN connection to mitigate 
any glitches.

c) Equity Shareholders can submit questions in advance with regard to the Agenda set out in the Notice of the Meeting,
accompanying Explanatory Statement, Scheme of Arrangement or any other document annexed hereto, from their 
registered email address, mentioning their name, DP ID and Client ID number/ folio number and mobile number, to 
reach the Applicant Company’s email address at investor@in.nestle.com at least 48 hours in advance before the start of 
the Meeting i.e. by 23rd July 2022 by 4:00 P.M. (IST). Such questions by the Equity Shareholders shall be taken up 
during the Meeting and replied by the Applicant Company suitably. 

d) Equity Shareholders, who would like to express their view/ ask questions during the Meeting with regard to the Agenda 
set out in the Notice of the Meeting, accompanying Explanatory Statement, Scheme of Arrangement or any other 
document annexed hereto, need to pre-register themselves as a speaker by sending their request from their registered 
email address mentioning their name, DP ID and Client ID number/ folio number and mobile number, to reach the 
Company’s email address at investor@in.nestle.com at least 48 hours in advance before the start of the Meeting i.e. by 
23rd July 2022 by 4:00 P.M. (IST). Those Equity Shareholders who have pre-registered themselves as a speaker will be 
allowed to express their view/ ask questions during the Meeting, depending upon the availability of time. 

e) When a pre-registered speaker is invited to speak at the Meeting, but he/ she does not respond, the next speaker will be 
invited to speak. Accordingly, all speakers are requested to get connected to a device with a video/ camera along with 
good internet speed. 

f) The Chairperson or Alternate Chairperson reserves the right to restrict the number of questions and number of speakers, 
as appropriate, to ensure the smooth conduct of the Meeting.

C. Instructions for Equity Shareholders for e-voting at the Meeting are as under: 

a) Equity Shareholders may follow the same procedure for e-voting at the Meeting as mentioned above for remote e-voting.

b) Only those Equity Shareholders, who will be present in the Meeting through VC/ OAVM facility and have not cast their 
vote on the Resolution through remote e-voting and are otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote 
through e-voting system in the Meeting.
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c) Equity Shareholders who have cast their vote by remote e-voting prior to the Meeting may also participate in the Meeting
through VC/ OAVM. However, they shall not be entitled to cast their vote again. 

d) The Helpline details of the person who may be contacted by the Equity Shareholders needing assistance with the use 
of technology, before or during the Meeting shall be the same persons mentioned for remote e-voting and reproduced 
here for convenience: 

Ms. Pallavi Mhatre, Senior Manager, National Securities Depository Ltd., Trade World, ‘A’ Wing, 4 th Floor, Kamala Mills 
Compound, Senapati Bapat Marg, Lower Parel, Mumbai – 400013, at the designated email address: evoting@nsdl.co.in or call on 
toll free no.: 18001020990 and 1800224430. Equity Shareholders may also write to the Company Secretary at the
Applicant Company’s email address at investor@in.nestle.com.

Other Guidelines for Equity Shareholders

a) The voting rights of Equity Shareholders shall be in proportion to their share in the paid-up equity share capital of the 
Applicant Company as on the Cut-Off Date.

b) Any person, who acquires shares of the Applicant Company and becomes Equity Shareholder of the Applicant Company 
after the Applicant Company sends the Notice of the Meeting by email and holds shares as on the Cut-Off Date, may 
obtain the User ID and password by sending a request to the Applicant Company’s email address at 
investor@in.nestle.com. However, if such persons are already registered with NSDL for remote e-voting then they can 
use their existing user ID and password for casting their vote. In case any such person forgets their password, they can 
reset their password by using “Forgot User Details/ Password?” or “Physical User Reset Password?” option available on 
www.evoting.nsdl.com.

c) A person, whose name is recorded in the Register of Members or in the Register of Beneficial Owners maintained by 
the depositories as on the Cut-Off Date only shall be entitled to avail the facility of remote e-voting or casting vote 
through e-voting system at the Meeting.

d) During the Meeting, the Chairperson or Alternate Chairperson shall, after response to the questions raised by the Equity 
Shareholders in advance or as a pre-speaker at the Meeting, formally propose to the Equity Shareholders participating 
through VC/ OAVM facility to vote on the resolution as set out in the Notice of the Meeting and announce the start of 
the casting of vote through the e-voting system. After the Equity Shareholders participating through VC/ OAVM, eligible 
and interested to cast votes, have cast the votes, the e-voting will be closed with the formal announcement of closure of 
the Meeting.

e) The Scrutinizer shall after the conclusion of e-voting at the Meeting, first download the votes cast at the Meeting and 
thereafter unblock the votes cast through remote e-voting and shall make a consolidated scrutinizer’s report of the total 
votes cast in favour or against, invalid votes, if any, and whether the resolution has been carried or not, and such Report 
shall then be sent to the Chairperson or a person authorized by him as per the directions of the Hon’ble Tribunal, who 
shall then countersign and declare the result of the voting forthwith. 

f) The Results declared along with the report of the Scrutinizer shall be placed on the website of the Applicant Company 
at www.nestle.in and on the website of NSDL at www.evoting.nsdl.com after the declaration of Results by the 
Chairperson or Alternate Chairperson or a person authorized by him, as the case may be. The Results shall also be 
forwarded to the BSE Limited, Mumbai. The result will also be displayed at the Registered Office of the Applicant
Company.

g) The aforesaid resolution for approval of the Scheme shall be considered passed if approved by a majority in number
representing three-fourths in value of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company casting their votes, as aforesaid,
and shall be deemed to have been duly passed on the date of the said Meeting (i.e., 25th July 2022) of the Equity 
Shareholders of the Applicant Company under Section 230(1) read with Section 232(1) of the Act.

h) The documents referred to in the Notice, accompanying Explanatory Statement and all other documents shall be available 
for inspection without any fee by the Equity Shareholders on all working days (except Saturdays, Sundays and
Public holidays) from 10:00 A.M. (IST) to 4:00 P.M. (IST) at the Registered Office of the Applicant Company, from the date
of dispatch of this Notice up to the date of the Meeting and shall also be available for inspection at the Meeting. The Notice
of the Meeting of Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company is also displayed/ posted on the website of the Applicant
Company www.nestle.in and website of www.evoting.nsdl.com and website of stock exchange www.bseindia.com.
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BEFORE THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL, NEW DELHI BENCH

CA (CAA) No.30/230/232/ND/2022

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

AND 

IN THE MATTER OF:

An application under Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013.

AND

IN THE MATTER OF:

Scheme of Arrangement between Nestlé India Limited and its 
Shareholders under Sections 230 to 232 and other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

AND

IN THE MATTER OF:

NESTLÉ INDIA LIMITED, (CIN: L15202DL1959PLC003786, PAN: AAACN0757G), 
a public limited company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, having its 
Registered Office at 100/101, World Trade Centre, Barakhamba Lane, New Delhi -110001.

…Applicant Company

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 230(3) AND OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANIES 
ACT, 2013 READ WITH RULE 6 OF THE COMPANIES (COMPROMISES, ARRANGEMENTS ANDAMALGAMATIONS) 
RULES, 2016.

1. Details of the Order of the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench (“the Hon’ble Tribunal”), calling 
the Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company.

Pursuant to the Order dated 30th May 2022 read with Order dated 6th June 2022 (“Orders”) of the Hon’ble Tribunal in CA (CAA) 
No.30/230/232/ND/2022, a Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company will be held and convened through  
Video Conferencing or Other Audio-Visual Means (“VC/ OAVM”) on Monday, 25th July 2022 at 4:00 P.M. for the purpose of 
considering and if thought fit, approving, with or without modification(s), the resolution for the approval of the Scheme of 
Arrangement between Nestlé India Limited and its Shareholders under Sections 230 to 232 and other applicable provisions
of the Companies Act, 2013 (“2013 Act”).

2. Rationale of the Scheme of Arrangement between Nestlé India Limited and its Shareholders (“Scheme”)

i. The Applicant Company has demonstrated consistent growth, sustained improvement in profitability and cash generation over 
the years. The key financial highlights for the past five years that demonstrates strong operating performance of the Applicant 
Company are as follows:

Parameter / Financial Year# 2017 2018 2019^ 2020 2021
Sales (Rs. in Millions) 101,351 112,162 122,953 132,902 146,337
Profit Before Tax  (% of Sales) 18.1% 21.7% 21.8% 21.2% 19.7%
Profit After Tax (% of Sales) 12.1% 14.3% 16.0% 15.7% 14.7%
Return on Average Equity 36.6% 45.3% 70.4% 105.8% 104.5%
Operating Cash Flow (Rs. in Millions) 18,178 20,525 22,953 24,545 22,714
Earnings Per Share (Rs.) 127.1 166.7 204.2 216.00 222.50
Dividend Per Share (Rs.)* 86.0 115.0 342.0 200.0 200.0
Capital Expenditure (Rs. in Millions) 1,959 1,628 1,522 4,741 7,308
Capex as % of Sales 1.9% 1.5% 1.2% 3.6% 5.0%
Dividend Payout Ratio 67.7% 69.0% 167.4% 92.6% 89.9%

# The Financial Year of the Company is calendar year i.e. 1 January to 31 December.
^ Figure have been reinstated in accordance with implementation of Ind AS 116 Leases.
* In 2019, Special interim dividend of Rs. 180 per share paid out of accumulated profits of previous years.

ii. The consistent growth in sales, strong margin profile has helped the Applicant Company maintain a strong track record of 
operating cash generation and distribution of dividends to its shareholders.

iii. The Applicant Company has Investments (including cash and cash equivalent) of Rs. 1,492.5 Crores as on 31st December 2021. 
The Applicant Company has financial liabilities towards trade payables and payable for capital expenditure of Rs. 1,754.1 
Crores as on 31st December 2021. The net worth of the Applicant Company as on 31st December 2021 is Rs. 2,084.5 Crores.
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iv. The Applicant Company has built up significant reserves amounting to Rs.8,374.3 Million [Rs. 837.43 Crores] (as per the 
Audited Annual Accounts as on 31st December 2021) from its retained profits by way of transfer to its General Reserves, 
comprising of the amounts transferred to General Reserves in accordance with the statutory requirement applicable until 
financial year ended 31st December 2014 for the Applicant Company. The Applicant Company has not transferred any amounts 
to the General Reserves after the financial years commencing from 1st January 2015. While the excess reserves can be profitably 
utilised for the Applicant Company’s overall growth strategy, the Board of Directors of the Applicant Company is of the view 
that after considering the foreseeable investments required for such opportunities over the next few years, barring unforeseen
circumstances and considering the track record of the Applicant Company, the Applicant Company is confident of Meeting its 
ongoing and future capital expenditure programmes and working capital requirements through generation of own funds and 
other financing options. 

v. In view of the Applicant Company’s capability to generate required funds, along with a view to provide greater flexibility for 
the utilisation of such funds, the Applicant Company now proposes to transfer the amount lying to the credit of the General 
Reserves to the Retained Earnings as reflected in the accounts of the Applicant Company to enable, inter alia, to be paid out to 
its shareholders, in such manner and to such extent, as the Board of Directors of the Applicant Company, in its sole discretion, 
may decide, from time to time and in accordance with the provisions of the 2013 Act and other applicable law.

vi. In view of the aforesaid and in the interest of transparency and good corporate governance, the Applicant Company has proposed 
the Scheme. 

3. Particulars of the Applicant Company

i. Nestlé India Limited, the Applicant Company is a public limited company incorporated in the State of Punjab on                                                                     
28th March 1959 under the Companies Act, 1956 (“1956 Act”). The Applicant Company was incorporated under the name of 
Food Specialities Limited. The Applicant Company shifted its Registered Office from the State of Punjab to the State of Union
Territory of Delhi in terms of Certificate of Registration of the order of the Company Law Board confirming transfer of the 
Registered Office from one State to another dated 13th August 1962 issued by the Registrar of Companies, Delhi. The name of 
the Applicant Company was changed to Nestlé India Limited in terms of fresh Certificate of Incorporation consequent upon 
change of name dated 29th March 1990. The Applicant Company is authorized to and is engaged in the business of, inter alia,
manufacture and sale of processed foods under several reputed brand names. 

ii. The Equity Shares of the Applicant Company are listed on the BSE Limited. 

iii. The objects for which the Applicant Company is established are set out in its Memorandum of Association. Some of the salient 
objects of the Applicant Company are set out herein-below :-

(1) To carry on the business as manufacturers, distributors, importers and exporters of and dealers in milk, condensed milk, 
evaporated milk, powered milk, butter, cheese, cram and all types of milk products, cocoa, chocolate, coffee, tea and other 
food preparations and beverages and as confectioners, dairymen, grocers, general provision merchants, refreshment 
contractors and chemists.

(2) To buy, sell, manufacture, refine, prepare, pack and deal in all kinds of foods including milk food products, beverages, 
infant foods, dietetic products, and other articles for human consumption and ingredients thereof.

(3) To undertake, acquire, take over and carry on any business or businesses as farmers, cattle raisers and breeders, 
manufacturers, processors, importers or exporters of and dealers either by wholesale or retail in all agricultural and other 
farm products and in raw or partly manufactured materials, articles, commodities and products required for the preparation 
or production of good of every kind whether for human or animal consumption.

(4) To carry on the business of commission agents, factors, manufacturers, general merchants and dealers in every description 
of goods, wares and merchandise, exports and importers, concessionaries, general storekeepers wholesale and retail traders, 
carriers, forwarding contractors, forwarding agents, warehousemen, designers, advertising contractors or agents, or trustees,
brokers, or agents, for any person or company.

(5) To purchase or otherwise acquire, construct, carry out, equip, maintain, alter, improve, develop, manage, work, sell, let on 
hire, deal in control and superintend any factories, plants, warehouses, workshops, sheds, dwellings, offices, shops, stores,
buildings, electric light and gas works and power plants, telegraph, telephone and wireless installations, and all kinds of 
works, machinery, apparatus, reservoirs, waterworks, tanks, labour lines and houses, markets, huts, roads, ways, tramways, 
railways, railroads, bridges, canals, aqueducts, watercourses, dykes, drains, wharves, furnaces, crushing works, hydraulic 
works and other works and conveniences which may seem directly or indirectly necessary or conducive to any of the objects 
of the company and to contribute to subsidize or otherwise assist by taking part in any such operations.

iv. The share capital structure of the Applicant Company as on 31st December 2021 is as under :-

Share Capital Amount in Rs.
Authorised Capital
100,000,000 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each 1,000,000,000
Total 1,000,000,000
Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Capital
96,415,716 fully paid up equity shares of Rs. 10/- each 964,157,160
Total 964,157,160

Subsequent to 31st December 2021, there has been no change in the share capital structure of the Applicant Company. 

The Applicant Company does not have any Employee Stock Options Scheme.
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4. The details of Promoters, Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (“KMPs”) of the Applicant Company as on 1st June 2022 are set 
out herein-below :-

A. PROMOTERS

Sl. No. Name Address Nos. of Shares % of Shareholding
1. Nestlé S.A. Avenue Nestlé 55, CH 1800, Vevey, 

Switzerland
3,30,51,399 34.28%

2. Maggi Enterprises Ltd. Zugerstrasse 8 CH-6330 Cham, Switzerland 2,74,63,680 28.48%

B. DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL (“KMP”)

Sl. 
No.

Name Designation Address No. of 
Shares

% of 
Shareholding

1. Mr. Rajya Vardhan 
Kanoria

Independent Non-
Executive Director

A-45, Vasant Marg, Vasant Vihar, 
Delhi – 110057

Nil Nil

2. Dr. Swati Ajay Piramal Independent Non-
Executive Director

96, Karuna Sindhu, Khan Abdul 
Gaffar Khan Road, Sea Face Worli,
Mumbai – 400018

Nil Nil

3. Ms. Alpana Parida Independent Non-
Executive Director

2nd Floor Anand Kamal Mahal 
Compound, 17 Carmichael Road,
Mumbai, Maharashtra, India                         
– 400026

Nil Nil

4. Ms. Anjali Bansal Independent Non-
Executive Director

Flat No. 3202, A-Wing Vivarea 
Tower, Sane Guruji Marg, Jacob 
Circle, Mahalaxmi, Mumbai,
Maharashtra, India – 400011

Nil Nil

5. Mr. Prathivadibhayankara 
Rajagopalan Ramesh

Independent Non-
Executive Director

532, Defence Colony, Sainikpuri, 
Secunderabad, Hyderabad, 
Telangana – 500094

Nil Nil

6. Mr. Suresh Narayanan Chairman and 
Managing Director

Apartment 625 B, Tower 6, 25th

Floor, The Magnolias, Golf Course, 
Golf Course Road, Gurgaon, 
Haryana – 122009

Nil Nil

7. Mr. David Steven 
McDaniel

Executive 
Director-Finance & 
Control and CFO

Apartment No. 1019A, The 
Magnolias, DLF Golf Links, DLF 
Phase 5, Gurugram, Haryana –
122009

Nil Nil

8. Mr. Matthias Christoph 
Lohner

Executive 
Director- Technical

MG 911A, The Magnolias, DLF 
Golf Links, DLF City Phase 5,
Gurugram, Haryana – 122009

Nil Nil

9. Mr. Balasubramaniam 
Murli

Company Secretary
(KMP)

A-1/13 Azad Apartments, Aurobindo 
Marg, New Delhi, India – 110016

1 0.00

5. Approval of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Applicant Company at their Meeting held on 28th July 2021 approved the Scheme. The details of the 
Directors, who voted in favour, against, did not participate or vote, is as given below :-

Name of Directors Designation Voted in favour/ Against/ did not 
participate or vote/ Absent

Mr. Suresh Narayanan Chairman and Managing Director Favour

Mr. David Steven McDaniel Executive Director – Finance & Control and CFO Favour

Mr. Matthias Christoph Lohner Executive Director – Technical Favour

Ms. Rama Bijapurkar* Independent Non-Executive Director Favour

Mr. Rajya Vardhan Kanoria Independent Non-Executive Director Favour

Mr. Prathivadibhayankara 
Rajagopalan Ramesh

Independent Non-Executive Director Favour

Dr. Swati Ajay Piramal Independent Non-Executive Director Favour

Ms. Roopa Kudva* Independent Non-Executive Director Absent (Sought leave of absence)

* Ms. Rama Bijapurkar (DIN: 00001835) and Ms. Roopa Kudva (DIN: 00001766) ceased to be a Director of the Applicant 
Company with effect from 30th April 2022 and 31st May 2022, respectively.

6. Salient Features of the Scheme 

The salient features of the Scheme are, inter alia, as stated below:-

(Capitalized terms used hereunder shall have the same meaning as ascribed at Clause 2.1 of the Scheme and the salient features as 
set out herein-below are to be read subject to the provisions of Clause 2.2 and 2.3 of the Scheme).
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a. The Appointed Date under the Scheme is the opening of business on 1st January 2022 or such other date as may be determined 
by the Board of Directors of the Applicant Company or the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi Bench.

b. Upon this Scheme becoming effective and with effect from the Appointed Date, the entire amount of Rs.8,374.3 Million                     
[Rs. 837.43 Crores] standing to the credit of the General Reserves of the Applicant Company shall be reclassified and credited 
to the 'Retained Earnings’ of the Applicant Company, and subsequent thereto, such amounts credited to the 'Retained Earnings' 
of the Applicant Company shall be reclassified as and constitute accumulated profits of the Applicant Company for the previous
financial years, arrived at after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of the 2013 Act and remaining 
undistributed in the manner provided in the 2013 Act and other applicable laws. It is clarified that such amounts shall be available 
for utilisation by the Applicant Company in relation to any Payout in the manner set out in Clause 5 of the Scheme.

c. Each Payout of the amount so credited (including the quantum, manner and timing thereof) shall be undertaken in accordance 
with the provisions of the 2013 Act, the Scheme and other Applicable Law, taking into account all relevant factors including 
applicable regulatory and fiscal considerations, the nature and quantum of each Payout and subject to payment of or deduction
at source of applicable taxes.

d. The Scheme is conditional on and subject to:

i. the Scheme being approved by the requisite majority of the Shareholders of the Applicant Company and such other class 
of persons, in their respective Meetings, as may be required under the 2013 Act, unless such Meeting is otherwise, dispensed 
with by the NCLT;

ii. no objection letter or comments/observations from the BSE Limited having been obtained in relation to the Scheme;

iii. the NCLT having accorded its sanction to the Scheme;

iv. such other approvals and sanctions of any Governmental Authority as may be required in respect of the Scheme being 
obtained; and

v. the certified copy of the order of the NCLT approving the Scheme being filed with the Registrar of Companies.

vi. The above are only the salient features of the Scheme and the Equity Shareholders are requested to read the entire text of 
the Scheme annexed hereto to get fully acquainted with the provisions thereof.

7. Amount due to Unsecured Creditors

As on 28th February 2022, the cut-off date for filing application with the Tribunal for this Scheme, the Applicant Company had 2,447 
(Two Thousand Four Hundred Forty Seven) Unsecured/ Trade and Sundry Creditors to whom the amount due was                                
Rs.1,754.14 Crores (One Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty Four Crores and Fourteen Lakh only). These creditors are all creditors in 
the ordinary course of business and will be paid up in the ordinary course of business.

8. Interest of Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives:

None of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of the said Applicant Company and their relatives have any concern or 
interest, financially or otherwise, in the Scheme of Arrangement, except to the extent of their shareholding, if any, in the 
Applicant Company.

9. Effect of Scheme on Stakeholders

The effect of the Scheme on various stakeholders is set out herein-below: -

A. Shareholders

As no Equity Shares of the Applicant Company are proposed to be issued to its Equity Shareholders pursuant to the 
Scheme, there will be no change in the shareholding pattern of the Applicant Company pursuant to the Scheme being 
made effective.

B. Directors

i. The Scheme will have no effect on the office of existing Directors of the Applicant Company as the Directors of the 
Applicant Company will continue to be Directors of the Applicant Company after the Scheme comes into effect. The 
composition of the Board of Directors of the Applicant Company may change by appointments, retirements, or 
resignations in accordance with the provisions of the 2013 Act but the Scheme itself will not affect the office of 
Directors of the Applicant Company.

ii. The effect of the Scheme on Directors of the Applicant Company in their capacity as shareholders is the same as in 
the case of other shareholders of the Applicant Company.

C. Employees

The Scheme will have no effect on the existing employees of the Applicant Company. The effect of the Scheme on 
employees of the Applicant Company in their capacity as shareholders is the same as in the case of other shareholders of 
the Applicant Company.

D. Creditors

i. The Unsecured Creditors of the Applicant Company will continue to be Unsecured Creditors of the Applicant 
Company on the same terms and conditions, as before. The Scheme is an arrangement between the Applicant Company 
and its Shareholders and there is no compromise or arrangement in the Scheme between the Applicant Company and its 
Unsecured Creditors. The value or the number of unsecured creditors may change from time to time as per the standard 
terms and conditions of business agreed with the unsecured creditors in the normal course of business. 

13
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ii. There will no be adverse effect on the account of the Scheme on the other stakeholders.

The Applicant Company has not accepted any deposits or issued debentures.

10. No investigation proceedings

No investigation proceedings have been instituted or are pending in relation to the Applicant Company under Sections 210 to 226 of 
the 2013 Act or the provisions of the 1956 Act. To the knowledge of the Applicant Company, no winding up proceedings have been
filed or pending against the Applicant Company and no proceedings under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 are pending 
against the Applicant Company. It is submitted that there are no material investigation or proceedings pending against the Applicant 
Company which have adverse effect or material bearing on the matters of sanction of the Scheme by the Tribunal. The Equity 
Shareholders may however note that at the time of filing the present application with the Hon'ble Tribunal, enforcement proceedings 
by Securities Exchange Board of India (SEBI) were pending under the SEBI (Prohibition of Fradulent and Unfair Trade Practices
Relating to Securities Market) Regulations 2003 against Ms. Roopa Kudva, a Director of the Applicant Company. The Securities 
Appellate Tribunal had vide Order dated 1st July 2021 stayed the SEBI Order dated 7th June 2021 during the pendency of the Appeal. 
For information of the Equity Shareholders, Ms. Roopa Kudva ceased to be a Director of the Applicant Company with effect from 
31st May 2022.

11. The Scheme does not provide for any corporate debt restructuring or reduction in Share Capital of the Applicant Company. 

12. Upon the Scheme being made effective in terms thereof, there shall be no change in the share capital structure of the Applicant 
Company.

13. The Statutory Auditors of the Applicant Company issued certificate dated 8th October 2021 to the effect that the accounting
treatment contained in the Scheme is in compliance with the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 and Circulars issued thereunder and the accounting standards notified by the Central Government under Section 133 of the                 
2013 Act.

14. The Scheme envisages that an amount of Rs.8,374.3 Million [Rs. 837.43 Crores] standing to the credit of the General Reserves 
of the Applicant Company  shall be re-classified and credited to the retained earnings of the Applicant Company and that such 
amount shall be available for utilization by the Applicant Company for being paid out to its Equity Shareholders from time to
time as determined by the Board of Directors of the Applicant Company in such manner, quantum and as determined and as 
more particularly provided for in Clauses 4 and 5 of the Scheme. Accordingly, the Scheme does not fall within the ambit of 
any of the conditions mentioned in paragraph 1(A)(4)(c) of the Circular dated 10th March 2017 of the of the Securities 
Exchange Board of India, hence there is no requirement for obtaining a valuation report from an independent Chartered 
Accountant or Registered Valuer. 

15. The BSE Limited has on 16th December 2021 given its “No Adverse Observations” to the Scheme.

16. The Applicant Company confirms that notice of the Scheme in the prescribed form is also being served on the statutory 
authorities as directed in the Order dated 30th May 2022 read with Order dated 6th June 2022 (“Orders”) of the Hon’ble Tribunal. 
The Applicant Company has on 10th June 2022 filed the Orders, the Scheme and Company Application (CAA) 
No.30/230/232/ND/2022 under cover of Form GNL-1 with the Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi and Haryana.

17. In addition to the documents annexed hereto, copies of the following documents will be open for inspection at the Registered Office 
of the Applicant Company on any working day (between 10:00 A.M. and 4:00 P.M.) except Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays 
prior to the date of the Meeting:-

i. Certified copy of the Orders dated 30th May 2022 and 6th June 2022 of the Hon’ble Tribunal;

ii. Copy of the Scheme of Arrangement;

iii. Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Applicant Company;

iv. Audited Accounts of the Applicant Company for the Financial Year ended 31st December 2021;

v. Certificate of the Statutory Auditors of the Applicant Company confirming the accounting treatment under the Scheme;

vi. Register of Shareholding of Directors and KMPs of the Applicant Company;

vii. Form No. GNL-1 filed with the Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi and Haryana by the Applicant Company along 
with Challan No. SRN No.: F05565643 dated 10th June 2022 evidencing filing of the Scheme; 

viii. Copy of CA (CAA) No.30/230/232/ND/2022 with annexures; and

ix. All other documents displayed on the Applicant Company’s website in terms of the SEBI Circular dated 10 th March 2017 
including the Report of the Audit Committee of the Applicant Company. 

Dated : 9th June 2022
Place : New Delhi

For Nestlé India Limited

Sd/-
Pramod Kumar Rai

Authorized Signatory
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Page 1 of 9

SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN  

NESTLÉ INDIA LIMITED 

AND

ITS MEMBERS 

UNDER SECTION 230 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013
PART A-GENERAL

1. Introduction

1.1. Nestlé India Limited is a public limited company, incorporated on 28 March 1959 under the
Indian Companies Act, 1956 and continuing its existence under the Act and having its registered
office at 100/101, World Trade Centre, Barakhamba Lane, New Delhi, 110001 (the
“Company”). The equity shares of the Company are listed on BSE Limited (“BSE”).

1.2. The Company is authorised to and is engaged in the business of, inter alia, manufacture and
sale of processed foods under several reputed brand names.

1.3. The Company has demonstrated consistent growth, sustained improvement in profitability and
cash generation over the years. The key financial highlights for the past five years that
demonstrates strong operating performance of the Company are as follows:

Parameter / Financial Year# 2016 2017 2018 2019^ 2020

Sales (Rs. in Millions) 94,096 101,351 112,162 122,953 132,902

Profit Before Tax (% of Sales) 15.7% 18.1% 21.7% 21.8% 21.2%

Profit After Tax (% of Sales) 10.6% 12.1% 14.3% 16.0% 15.7%

Return on Average Equity 32.8% 36.6% 45.3% 70.4% 105.8%

Operating Cash Flow (Rs. in Millions) 14,659 18,178 20,525 22,953 24,545

Earnings Per Share (Rs.) 103.9 127.1 166.7 204.2 216.00

Dividend Per Share (Rs.) * 63.0 86.0 115.0 342.0 200.0

Capital Expenditure (Rs. in Millions) 1,133 1,959 1,628 1,522 4,741

Capex as % of Sales 1.2% 1.9% 1.5% 1.2% 3.6%

Dividend Payout Ratio 65.6% 67.7% 69.0% 167.4% 92.6%

# The Financial Year of the Company is calendar year 1 January to 31 December.
^ Figures have been reinstated in accordance with implementation of Ind AS 116 Leases.
* In 2019, Special interim dividend of Rs.180 per share paid out of accumulated profits of previous years

Annexure 1
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1.4. The consistent growth in sales, strong margin profile has helped the Company maintain a strong 
track record of operating cash generation and distribution of dividends to its shareholders. 

1.5. The Company has net cash and cash equivalent and investments of Rs. 24,777.4 Million as on 
31 December 2020. The Company has financial liabilities - borrowings worth Rs. 348.4 Million 
as on 31 December 2020 which are adequately covered by available cash and cash equivalents. 
Other than the above, the Company does not have any secured or unsecured loans, fixed 
deposits or preference shares which entail repayment obligations.  

1.6. In 2009, the Hon’ble Delhi High Court approved the scheme of arrangement between the 
Company and its shareholders and creditors inter alia for an amount of Rs. 430.8 Million  
forming part of the amount voluntarily transferred by the Company to its General Reserves in 
excess of the prescribed 10% of the profits of the Company in accordance with the provisions 
of the erstwhile Companies Act, 1956 read with the Companies (Transfer of Profits to Reserves) 
Rules, 1975 during the financial years 1981 to 1996, to be credited to the balance in the “Profit 
and Loss Account” of the Company, and distributed as special dividend to the shareholders of 
the Company, in accordance with the provisions of the erstwhile Companies Act, 1956 and 
rules framed thereunder.  

1.7. The Company has since then built up significant reserves amounting to Rs. 8,374.3 Million (as 
per the Audited Annual Accounts as on 31 December 2020) from its retained profits by way of 
transfer to its General Reserves, comprising of the amounts transferred to General Reserves in 
accordance with the statutory requirement applicable until financial year ended 31 December 
2014 for the Company. The Company has not transferred any amounts to the General Reserves 
after the financial years commencing from 1 January 2015 and does not intend to transfer any 
amounts for the financial year ending 31 December 2021. While the excess reserves can be 
profitably utilised for the Company’s overall growth strategy, the Board of the Company is of 
the view that after considering the foreseeable investments required for such opportunities over 
the next few years, barring unforeseen circumstances and considering the track record of the 
Company, the Company is confident of meeting its ongoing and future capital expenditure 
programmes and working capital requirements through generation of own funds and other 
financing options.  

1.8. In view of the Company’s capability to generate required funds, along with a view to provide 
greater flexibility for the utilisation of such funds, the Company now proposes to transfer the 
amount lying to the credit of the General Reserves to the Retained Earnings as reflected in the 
accounts of the Company to enable, inter alia, Payout to the Members, in such manner and to 
such extent, as the Board, in its sole discretion, may decide, from time to time and in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act and other Applicable Law. 

1.9. In view of the aforesaid and in the interest of transparency and good corporate governance, the 
Company has proposed this Scheme of Arrangement between the Company and its Members 
under Section 230(1)(b) of the Act, pursuant to which and upon its coming into effect, the entire 
amount of Rs. 8,374.3 Million lying in the General Reserves of the Company, as of the 
Appointed Date, be credited to the Retained Earnings of the Company, to enable, inter alia, 
Payout to its Members as per the discretion of the Board (regarding the mode, quantum and 
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time of such Payout, subject to consideration of all relevant factors), from time to time in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and other Applicable Law, pursuant to Section 230 
and other relevant provisions of the Act, and various other matters consequential to or otherwise 
integrally connected with the above.  

1.10. The Scheme is divided into the following parts: 

(a) Part A, which deals with the introduction and definition and sets out the share capital 
and details of reserves and surplus of the Company. 

(b) Part B, which deals with utilisation and reclassification of amounts standing to the 
credit of the General Reserves to enable Payout to Members, as per the discretion of 
the Board, from time to time; and 

(c) Part C, which deals with the general terms and conditions. 

PART A – DEFINITION AND DETAILS OF SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND 
SURPLUS 

2. Definition and Interpretation 
 

2.1. In this Scheme, unless inconsistent with the subject or context, the following expressions shall 
have the following meanings: 

“Act” means the Companies Act, 2013, as amended, supplemented, modified or replaced from 
time to time and shall include any statutory replacement or re-enactment thereof, and to the 
extent that any provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 have not been notified or brought into 
force, the (Indian) Companies Act, 1956, in each case, including any rules made thereunder; 

“Appointed Date” means opening of business on 1 January 2022, or such other date as may be 
determined by the Board of the Company or NCLT; 

“Applicable Law” includes all applicable statutes, enactments, acts of legislature or 
parliament, ordinances, rules, by-laws, regulations, notifications, circulars, guidelines, policies, 
directions, directives, rulings and orders of any government, statutory authority, tribunal, board 
or court in India; 

“Articles of Association” means the articles of association of the Company, as may be 
amended, or restated from time to time; 

“Balance Sheet” means the balance sheet of the Company prepared for any period along with 
the notes to the accounts and the schedules thereto, if any, in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act and rules thereunder; 

“Board” in relation to the Company, shall, unless it be repugnant to the context or otherwise, 
include a committee of directors or any person authorised by the board of directors or such 
committee of board of directors for the purposes of matters pertaining to the Scheme and/or 
any other matter relating thereto; 

“Company” shall have the meaning assigned to it in Clause 1.1; 
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“Effective Date” means the last of the dates on which all the conditions and matters referred to 
in Clause 7 of this Scheme occur or have been fulfilled or waived in accordance with this 
Scheme. References in this Scheme to date of ‘coming into effect of the Scheme’ or 
‘effectiveness of the Scheme’ shall mean the Effective Date; 

“General Reserves” means and includes the general reserves of the Company which have been 
built primarily through transfer of retained undistributed profits, pursuant to the provisions of 
the erstwhile Companies Act, 1956 read with erstwhile provisions of the Companies (Transfer 
of Reserves) Rules, 1975 and which forms a part of the revenue reserves of the Company, as 
reflected in the accounts of the Company; 

“Governmental Authority” means any applicable central, state or local government, 
legislative body, regulatory or administrative authority, agency or commission, including a 
stock exchange or any Court, Tribunal, Board, Bureau, instrumentality, judicial or arbitral 
body; 

“NCLT” means the National Company Law Tribunal having its bench at New Delhi; 

“Member” means every person holding equity share/s of the Company at the relevant time and 
the term "Members" shall be construed accordingly; 

“Payout” has the meaning given to it in Clause 5.1 of this Scheme; 

“Registrar of Companies” means the Registrar of Companies, National Capital Territory of 
Delhi and Haryana; 

“Retained Earnings” represents surplus balance (including accumulated profits) under the 
sub-head “Other Equity” reported on the Balance Sheet under the shareholder’s equity section 
at the end of each accounting period in terms of Schedule III of the Act, arrived at after adding 
to the net income or reduced by a net loss during the year from the balance at the beginning of 
the year further subtracted by the dividend payouts during the year.   

“Scheme” means this scheme of arrangement, in its present form with such modifications and 
amendments as may be made from time to time, and with appropriate approvals and sanctions 
of the NCLT and other relevant regulatory authorities, as may be required under the Act, as 
applicable, and under all other Applicable Law; 

“SEBI” means the Securities and Exchange Board of India; and 

“SEBI Scheme Circular” means the SEBI master circular dated 22 December 2020 bearing 
reference no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2020/249 on scheme of arrangement by listed 
entities, and shall include any statutory modifications, re-enactment or amendments thereof.  

2.2. Terms and expressions which are used in this Scheme but not defined herein shall, unless 
repugnant or contrary to the context or meaning thereof, have the same meaning given to them 
under the Act, the Income-tax Act, 1961 and other Applicable Law. 

2.3. In this Scheme, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) references to “persons” shall include individuals, bodies corporate (wherever 
incorporated), unincorporated associations and partnerships; 
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(b) the headings, sub-headings, titles, sub-titles to clauses, sub-clauses and paragraphs are 
inserted for ease of reference only and shall not form part of the operative provisions 
of this Scheme and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Scheme;  

(c) references to one gender includes all genders; 

(d) words in the singular shall include the plural and vice versa; 

(e) words “include” and “including” are to be construed without limitation; 

(f) terms “hereof”, “herein”, “hereby”, “hereto” and derivative or similar words shall refer 
to this entire Scheme or specified Clauses of this Scheme, as the case may be; 

(g) a reference to “writing” or “written” includes printing, typing, lithography and other 
means of reproducing words in a visible form including e-mail; 

(h) reference to any agreement, contract, document or arrangement or to any provision 
thereof shall include references to any such agreement, contract, document or 
arrangement as it may, after the date hereof, from time to time, be amended, 
supplemented or novated; 

(i) reference to a Clause shall be a reference to the Clause of this Scheme; and 

(j) references to any provision of law or legislation or regulation shall include:  

(i) such provision as it exists from time to time amended, modified, re-enacted or 
consolidated (whether before or after the date of this Scheme) to the extent 
such amendment, modification, re-enactment or consolidation applies or is 
capable of applying to this Scheme and (to the extent liability there under may 
exist or can arise) shall include any past statutory provision (as amended, 
modified, re-enacted or consolidated from time to time) which the provision 
referred to has directly or indirectly replaced; and  

(ii) all subordinate legislations (including circulars, notifications, clarifications or 
supplement(s) to, or replacement or amendment of, that law or legislation or 
regulation) made from time to time under that provision (whether or not 
amended, modified, re-enacted or consolidated from time to time) and any 
retrospective amendment.  

3. Share Capital and General Reserves 
 

3.1. The capital structure of the Company as on 31 December 2020 is as under: 

Share Capital Amount in Rs. 

Authorised Capital 

100,000,000 equity shares of Rs. 10 1,000,000,000 

Total 1,000,000,000 

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Capital 

96,415,716 fully paid up equity shares of Rs. 10  964,157,160 

Total 964,157,160 
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3.2. The shareholding pattern of the Company as on 30 June 2021 is as under: 

Category of Shareholders Number of 
Shareholders 

Total Number 
of Shares 

Shareholding 
Percentage 

(A) Promoter and Promoter Group 2 60,515,079 62.76% 

(B) Public 167,107 35,900,637 37.24% 

(C1) Shares underlying DRs Nil Nil Nil 

(C2) Shares held by Employee Trust Nil Nil Nil 

(C) Non-Promoter-Non-Public Nil Nil Nil 

Grand Total 1,67,109 96,415,716 100% 

3.3. The details of the ‘Other Equity’ of the Company, including the General Reserves, as set out in 
the Balance Sheet of the Company as on 31 December 2020, are as under: 

Particulars Amount (Rs. in Million) 

General Reserves (as defined and referred to in this Scheme) 8,374.3 

Other Equity Reserve not forming part of the reclassification specified in Part B of this Scheme 
Retained Earnings  11,175.2 

Total Reserves and Surplus 19,549.5 

Items of Other Comprehensive Income (320.3) 

Total Other Equity 19,229.2 

3.4. The Scheme does not seek to reduce or otherwise alter the issued, subscribed and paid-up share 
capital of the Company in any manner and the same will, therefore, remain unaltered as a result 
of the Scheme.  

PART B - RECLASSIFICATION AND UTILISATION OF THE GENERAL RESERVES AND 
PAYOUT TO MEMBERS 
4. Reclassification and utilisation of the General Reserves 

4.1. The General Reserves of the Company, amounting to Rs. 8,374.3 Million (as on the                                
31 December 2020) have been, primarily, built up over the years through the transfer of profits 
to the reserves by the Company (prior to declaration of dividend) in accordance with the 
provisions of the erstwhile Companies Act, 1956 and the erstwhile rules notified thereunder, 
namely, the Companies (Transfer of Profits to Reserves) Rules, 1975. 

4.2. Upon this Scheme becoming effective and with effect from the Appointed Date, the entire 
amount of Rs. 8,374.3 Million standing to the credit of the General Reserves of the Company 
shall be reclassified and credited to the 'Retained Earnings’ of the Company, and subsequent 
thereto, such amounts credited to the 'Retained Earnings' of the Company shall be reclassified 
as and constitute accumulated profits of the Company for the previous financial years, arrived 
at after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of the Act and remaining 
undistributed in the manner provided in the Act and other applicable laws. It is clarified that 
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such amounts shall be available for utilisation by the Company in relation to any Payout in the 
manner set out in Clause 5 below.  

 

5. Payout of Retained Earnings to Members 

5.1. Upon the Scheme becoming effective and subsequent to the reclassification of the amounts 
standing to the credit of the General Reserves and credit thereof to the Retained Earnings 
pursuant to Clause 4 of the Scheme, the amount so credited shall be available for Payout to the 
Members of the Company, from time to time, by the Board, at its sole discretion, in such 
manner, quantum and at such time as the Board may decide (each such event constituting a 
“Payout”). 

5.2. Each Payout of the amount so credited (including the quantum, manner and timing thereof) 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Scheme and other 
Applicable Law, taking into account all relevant factors including applicable regulatory and 
fiscal considerations, the nature and quantum of each Payout and subject to payment of or 
deduction at source of applicable taxes. 

6. Accounting Treatment 

6.1. Upon this Scheme becoming effective and with effect from the Appointed Date, the entire 
amount of Rs. 8,374.3 Million standing to the credit of the General Reserves of the Company 
shall be reclassified and credited to the Retained Earnings of the Company. 

6.2. The accounting treatment proposed in this Scheme is in compliance with the provisions of 
Section 133 of the Act and Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 framed 
thereunder. To this effect, in terms of the SEBI Scheme Circular, the Company has obtained an 
auditor’s certificate dated 28 July 2021 from M/s BSR & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants 
(Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022), certifying that the accounting treatment of this 
Scheme is in compliance with the provisions of Section 133 of the Act and Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 framed thereunder.   

7. Conditionality to the Effectiveness of the Scheme  

7.1. The Scheme is conditional on and subject to: 

a) the Scheme being approved by the requisite majority of the Members of the Company 
and such other class of persons, in their respective meetings, as may be required under 
the Act, unless such meeting is otherwise, dispensed with by the NCLT; 

b) no objection letter or comments/observations from BSE (basis comments from SEBI 
(if any) in terms of the SEBI Scheme Circular read with SEBI Circular No. 
CFD/DIL3/CIR/2017/21 dated 10 March 2017, as amended and other Applicable Law), 
having been obtained in relation to the Scheme; 

c) the NCLT having accorded its sanction to the Scheme; 

d) such other approvals and sanctions of any Governmental Authority as may be required 
in respect of the Scheme being obtained; and 
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e) the certified copy of the order of the NCLT approving the Scheme being filed with the 
Registrar of Companies.  

7.2. The approval of the Scheme by the Members shall be deemed to be sufficient for the purposes 
of effecting the re-classification of the amounts standing to the credit of the General Reserves 
and credit thereof to the Retained Earnings and no further resolution under any other applicable 
provisions of the Act would be required to be separately passed. 

7.3. In the event of this Scheme failing to take effect by 31 December 2022 or such later date as 
may be agreed by the Board, this Scheme shall stand revoked, cancelled and be of no effect and 
become null and void, and in that event no rights and liabilities shall accrue to, or, be incurred 
inter se between the Company and any other person and the Company shall bear and pay the 
costs, charges and expenses for and/or in connection with the Scheme. In the event any of the 
approvals or conditions enumerated in the Scheme not being obtained or complied with, or for 
any other reason, the Scheme cannot be implemented, the Board of Directors of the Company 
shall waive such conditions as they consider appropriate to give effect, as far as possible, to this 
Scheme and failing such waiver, or in case the Scheme is not sanctioned by the NCLT, the 
Scheme shall become null and void. 

PART C - GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

8. Upon this Scheme becoming effective, the Balance Sheet of the Company, as on the Appointed 
Date, shall be reorganised in accordance with the terms of this Scheme. 
 

9. Dividends 

9.1. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as restricting the Company from being entitled to 
declare and pay dividends, whether interim or final, to its Members whether during the 
pendency of the Scheme or otherwise and the Members shall, save as expressly provided 
otherwise in this Scheme, continue to enjoy their existing rights under the Articles of 
Association, including the right to receive dividends, if any. 

9.2. It is clarified that the aforesaid provisions in Clause 9.1 in respect of declaration of dividend 
are enabling provisions only and shall not be deemed to confer any right on any Member of the 
Company to demand or claim any dividends which, subject to the provisions of the said Act, 
shall be entirely at the discretion of the Board. 

10. Applications 

The Company shall make necessary applications before the NCLT for the sanction of this 
Scheme under Section 230 of the Act and any other applicable provisions of law. 

11. Modifications to the Scheme 

11.1. The Company (acting through its Board) may, in its full and absolute discretion: 

a) assent to any alterations or modifications to this Scheme which the NCLT and/or any 
other Governmental Authority may deem fit to approve or impose and to do all acts, 
deeds and things as may be necessary, desirable or expedient for the purposes of this 
Scheme; 
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b) give such directions as it may consider necessary to settle any question or difficulty 
arising under the Scheme or in regard to, and of the meaning or interpretation of the 
Scheme, or implementation thereof, or in any matter whatsoever connected therewith   
(including any question or difficulty arising as a result of inadequacy of information 
provided by a Member or in connection with any deceased or insolvent Member of the 
Company), or to review the position relating to the satisfaction of various conditions to 
the Scheme and if necessary, to waive any of those (to the extent permissible under 
law), or, that otherwise as may be considered to be in the best interest of the Company 
and its Members and do all acts, deeds and things as may be necessary, desirable or 
expedient for giving effect to the Scheme; 

c) modify, vary or withdraw this Scheme prior to the Effective Date in any manner at any 
time; 

d) carry out any modification to the Scheme by the Company (after receipt of sanction by 
the NCLT) only with the prior approval of the NCLT. 

12. Severability 

12.1. The provisions contained in this Scheme are inextricably inter-linked with the other provisions 
and the Scheme constitutes an integral whole. The Scheme would be given effect to only if it 
is approved in its entirety unless specifically agreed otherwise by the Board of the Company. 

12.2. Subject to 12.1 above, if any part of this Scheme is found to be unworkable for any reason 
whatsoever, the same shall not, subject to the decision of the Board of the Company, affect the 
validity or implementation of the other parts and/or provisions of this Scheme. 

13. Tax related provisions 

Every Payout shall be subject to payment or deduction at source of applicable taxes as per 
Applicable Law. 

14. Costs 

All costs, charges and expenses of the Company in relation to or in connection with the Scheme 
and of carrying out and implementing/ completing the terms and provisions of the Scheme or 
incidental to the completion thereof in pursuance of the Scheme, shall be borne and paid by the 
Company. 

15. Binding Effect 

This Scheme when sanctioned by the NCLT and upon effectiveness shall be binding on the 
Company, Members, and all other persons, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any 
other instrument, deed or writing.  

==== 
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   B S R & Co. LLP
 Chartered Accountants 

  Building No. 10, 12th Floor, Tower-C, 
  DLF Cyber City, Phase-II, 
  Gurugram – 122 002, India 

Telephone: +91 124 719 1000
 Fax: +91 124 235 8613

B S R & Co. (a partnership firm with Registration No. BA61223) converted into B S R & Co. LLP  
(a Limited Liability Partnership with LLP Registration No. AAB-8181) with effect from October 14, 2013 

Registered Office: 

14th Floor, Central B Wing and North C Wing, Nesco IT Park 4, Nesco 
Center, Western Express Highway, Goregaon (East), Mumbai - 400063 

Private and confidential 

The Board of Directors 
Nestlé India Limited 
100/ 101, World Trade Centre 
Barakhamba Lane, 
New Delhi - 110001 

8 October 2021 

Independent Auditor’s Certificate on the proposed accounting treatment as per the Draft Scheme 
of arrangement amongst Nestlé India Limited and its members under section 230 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) pursuant to the requirements of Master Circular 
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2020/249 dated 22 December 2020 issued by Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (SEBI). 

We, the statutory auditors of Nestlé India Limited,(hereinafter referred to as “the Company”), have 
examined the proposed accounting treatment specified in clause 6.1 of the Draft Scheme of arrangement 
between Nestlé India Limited (‘the Company’) and its members in terms of the provisions of section 
230 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Scheme’) with reference to its compliance with the applicable 
Accounting Standards notified under the Companies Act, 2013 and Other Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles. 

The responsibility for the preparation of the Draft Scheme and its compliance with the relevant laws 
and regulations, including the applicable Accounting Standards as aforesaid, is that of the Board of 
Directors of the Companies involved. Our responsibility is to examine and report whether the Draft 
Scheme complies with the applicable Accounting Standards and Other Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles. Nothing contained in this Certificate, nor anything said or done in the course of, or in 
connection with the services that are subject to this Certificate, will extend any duty of care that we 
may have in our capacity of the statutory auditors of any financial statements of the Company. We 
carried out our examination in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit Reports and Certificates 
for Special Purposes, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

Based on our examination and according to the information and explanations given to us, we confirm 
that the accounting treatment contained in the aforesaid scheme is in compliance with SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and circulars issued thereunder and all 
the applicable Accounting Standards notified by the Central Government under the Companies Act, 
2013.  

This Certificate is issued at the request of the Nestlé India Limited pursuant to the requirements of 
circulars issued under SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 for 
onward submission to the Bombay Stock Exchange. This Certificate should not be used for any other 
purpose without our prior written consent. 

Annexure 2
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This certificate is to be read in conjunction with the enclosed Annexure 1 of even date. 
 

For B S R & Co. LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022 
 
 
 
 

Vikram Advani 
Partner 

Place: New Delhi     Membership No: 091765 
Date: 8 October 2021                                                                    ICAI UDIN:  21091765AAAACI5901 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VIKRAM 
ADVANI

Digitally signed by 
VIKRAM ADVANI 
Date: 2021.10.08 
10:51:37 +05'30'

25



26

B S R & Co. LLP 
 
 
 Annexure 1 to the certificate dated 8 October 2021 
 

Management’s Responsibility 
 

1. The preparation of the Scheme and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, including the 
applicable Accounting Standards notified under section 133 of Companies Act, 2013, read with 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2016 (as amended from time to time) 
and other generally accepted accounting principles is the sole responsibility of the Company’s 
management. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

 
2. Pursuant to the requirements of the Master Circular issued by SEBI, it is our responsibility to examine 

and report whether the proposed accounting treatment specified in clause 6.1 of the Scheme is in 
compliance with the applicable accounting standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with 
rules framed thereunder and other Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 
 

3. In relation to paragraph 2 above, we have examined the following records and documents: 
 

a) Draft Scheme of arrangement amongst Nestlé India Limited and its members under section 230 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’); 

 
b) Audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 on which we 

issued an unmodified audit opinion vide our report dated 16 February 2021. Our audit of these 
financial statements was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Auditing and other 
applicable authoritative pronouncements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

 
We have also obtained appropriate representations from the Company’s management. 

 
4. We conducted our examination of the Annexure in accordance with the Guidance Note on Reports or 

Certificates for Special Purposes issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The 
Guidance Note requires that we comply with the ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

 
5. We have complied with the relevant applicable requirements of the Standard on Quality Control (SQC) 

1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Historical Financial Information, and 
Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements. 

 
6. We had issued a certificate dated 28 July 2021 in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter 

dated 2 August 2018 and addendum to the engagement letter dated 23 July 2021 on the proposed 
accounting treatment as per the Scheme pursuant to the requirements of Master Circular 
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2020/249 dated 22 December 2020 issued by SEBI. The aforesaid 
certificate issued in accordance with this Guidance Note had not been accepted by the Bombay Stock 
Exchange and accordingly the same has been issued as per their prescribed format. 

 
7. The certificate issued on 28 July 2021 stands withdrawn and is superseded by this certificate. 
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 Chartered Accountants 

 Building No. 10, 12th Floor, Tower-C, 
 DLF Cyber City, Phase-II, 
 Gurugram � 122 002, India 

B S R & Co. (a partnership firm with Registration No. BA61223) converted into B S R & Co. LLP  
(a Limited Liability Partnership with LLP Registration No. AAB-8181) with effect from October 14, 2013 

Registered Office: 

14th Floor, Central B Wing and North C Wing, Nesco IT Park 4, Nesco 
Center, Western Express Highway, Goregaon (East), Mumbai - 400063 

Telephone: +91 124 719 1000
Fax: +91 124 235 8613

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS� REPORT 

To the Members of Nestlé India Limited  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Nestlé India Limited (�the Company�), which comprise the 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive 
income), statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year  then ended, and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid 
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (�Act�) in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and profit and other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.   

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) 
of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor�s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the 
Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Annexure 3
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Revenue Recognition 
 
See note 2 and 35 to the financial statements 
 
The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at 
the moment when control has been transferred to 
the customer and is measured net of trade 
discounts, rebates and pricing allowances to 
customers (collectively 'trade spends').  
There is a risk that revenue may be overstated 
because of fraud, resulting from the pressure local 
management may feel to achieve performance 
targets. Revenue is also an important element of 
how the company measures its performance, upon 
which management is incentivized. The Company 
focuses on revenue as a key performance measure, 
which could create an incentive for revenue to be 
recognized before control has been transferred.  

Our audit procedures included:  
� We assessed the appropriateness of the revenue 
recognition accounting policies by comparing with 
applicable accounting standards. 
� We evaluated the design, tested the implementation and 
operating effectiveness of key internal controls including 
general IT controls and key IT application controls over 
recognition of revenue. 
� We performed substantive testing by selecting samples 
of revenue transactions recorded during the year by 
testing the underlying documents which included 
invoices, good dispatch notes, customer acceptances and 
shipping documents (as applicable). 
� We carried out analytical procedures on revenue 
recognised during the year to identify unusual variances. 
� We tested, on a sample basis, specific revenue 
transactions recorded before and after the financial year 
end date to determine whether the revenue had been 
recognised in the appropriate financial period. 
� We tested manual journal entries posted to revenue to 
identify unusual items. 

 
Provision for Contingencies 
 
See note 2, 22, 26 and 38 to the financial statements 

 
The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The management is required to make judgements 
and estimates in relation to the issues and 
exposures arising from a range of matters relating 
to direct tax, indirect tax, claims, general legal 
proceedings and other eventualities arising in the 
regular course of business. The Company is also 
subject to complexities arising from uncertain tax 
positions on deductibility of expenses. 
 
The key judgement lies in determining the 
likelihood and magnitude of an unfavorable 
outcome and interpretations of the legal aspects, 
tax legislations and judgements previously made 
by authorities. By nature, these are complex and 
include many variables. 

Our audit procedures included: 
� We tested the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of key internal controls around the 
recognition and measurement of provisions. 
� We inquired the status in respect of significant 
provisions with the Company's internal tax and legal 
team. 
� We involved our subject matter experts, wherever 
required, to assess the value of provisions in light of the 
nature of the exposures, applicable regulations and 
related correspondence with the authorities. 
� We challenged the assumptions and critical 
judgements made by the Company which impacted 
their estimate of provision required, considering 
judgements previously made by the authorities in the 
relevant jurisdictions or any relevant opinions given by 
the Company's advisors and assessing whether there 
was an indication of management bias. 
� We verified the computation of provision on a test 
check basis. 
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Provision for defined benefit pension plan 
 
See note 3 and 36 to the financial statements 
 
The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
During the year, the defined benefit pension 
scheme for certain category of employees was 
modified and replaced by �Future ready plan�.  
 
The defined benefit obligation for past period of 
service as per the �Future Ready Plan� has been 
determined based on actuarial valuation carried 
out by an independent actuary using the employee 
data, methods and assumptions as per the modified 
plan. 
 
The aforesaid valuation involves voluminous 
employee data, subjectivity and judgement in 
determination of key assumptions used in 
valuation of the defined benefit obligation. 
 
Considering this is a significant non-recurring 
transaction and subjectivity and judgements 
involved, there is a risk of data and assumptions 
being inappropriate resulting in an inaccurate 
valuation of defined benefit obligation. 

Our audit procedures included: 
� We tested design & implementation and operating 
effectiveness of key internal controls over completeness 
and accuracy of data and assumptions used in valuation 
of defined benefit obligation. 
� We evaluated and challenged the key assumptions in 
valuation of defined benefit obligation. 
� We tested the data used in valuation of defined benefit 
obligation on a test check basis. 
� We assessed the appropriateness of the accounting 
treatment and disclosures in the financial statements in 
respect of defined benefit pension scheme and changes 
in the scheme/plan during the year in accordance with 
Ind AS 19 � Employee Benefits. 

 
Other Information 
 
The Company�s management and Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the Company�s annual report, but does not include the 
financial statements and our auditors� report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Management's and Board of Directors� Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The Company�s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) 
of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs, profit/loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company
in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance 
of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets 
of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application 
of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate  internal  financial  controls that were operating 
effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and 
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presentation of the  financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Management and Board of Directors are responsible for assessing 
the Company�s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company�s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor�s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor�s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for 
expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures in the  financial statements made by the Management and Board of Directors. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company�s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor�s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor�s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors� report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
1. As required by the Companies (Auditors� Report) Order, 2016 (�the Order�) issued by the Central 

Government in terms of section 143 (11) of the Act, we give in the �Annexure A� a statement on the 
matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable. 
 

(A) As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 
 

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

 
b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as 

it appears from our examination of those books. 
 

c) The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the 
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows dealt with by this report are in 
agreement with the books of account. 

 
d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under section 133 

of the Act.  
 
e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 December 2021 taken 

on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 December 2021 
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act. 

 
f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 

of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in 
�Annexure B�. 

 
(B) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors� Report in accordance with Rule 11 

of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us: 

 
i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31 December 2021 on its 

financial position in its financial statements - Refer Note 38 and 44 to the financial statements;  
 

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivate contracts for which there 
were any material foreseeable losses.   
 

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company. 
 

iv. The disclosures in the financial statements regarding holdings as well as dealings in specified 
bank notes during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016 have not been made 
in these financial statements since they do not pertain to the financial year ended 31 December 
2021. 
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(C) With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditors� Report under section 197(16):  

 
In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the remuneration paid 
by the company to its directors during the current year is in accordance with the provisions of Section 
197 of the Act. The remuneration paid to any director is not in excess of the limit laid down under 
Section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other details under 
Section 197(16) which are required to be commented upon by us. 

 
 For B S R & Co. LLP 
 Chartered Accountants 
 Firm's Registration No. 101248W/W-100022 
  
  

 
 

  
 Vikram Advani 

 Partner 
Place: Delhi Membership No. 091765 
Date: 17 February 2022 UDIN: 22091765ACXFTN7243 
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Annexure - A to the Independent Auditors� Report of even date on the financial statements of Nestlé India 
Limited 

(i)  (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situation of fixed assets. 

  
(b) The Company has a regular programme of physical verification of its fixed assets by which all 

fixed assets are verified in a phased manner over a period of two years. In our opinion, the 
periodicity of physical verification is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the 
nature of its assets. In accordance with the programme, certain assets were physically verified by 
the management during the current year. As informed to us and based on records examined by us, 
no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification. 

  
(c) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the examination of the 

registered sale deed / transfer deed / conveyance deed provided to us, we report that, the title deeds, 
comprising all the immovable properties of land and buildings which are freehold, are held in the 
name of the Company as at the balance sheet date. In respect of immovable properties of land and 
buildings that have been taken on lease and disclosed as fixed asset in the financial statements, the 
lease agreements are in the name of the Company, where the Company is the lessee in the 
agreement. 

  
(ii)   The inventory, except goods in transit and stock lying with third parties, has been physically 

verified by the management during the year. In our opinion, the frequency of such verification is 
reasonable. Confirmations have been obtained for stock lying with third parties at the year end. 
According to the information and explanations given to us and based on records examined by us, 
the discrepancies noticed on physical verification of inventory as compared to book records were 
not material and have been properly dealt with in the books of account. 

   
(iii)   According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of 

the records of the Company, the Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to 
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or other parties covered in the register maintained 
under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013.  Accordingly, clause 3(iii) of the order is not 
applicable. 

  
(iv)   According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of 

the records of the Company, the Company has not entered into any transactions in respect of loans, 
investments, guarantees, and security which are covered under section 185 and 186 of the 
Companies Act, 2013. 

  
(v)   According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not accepted any 

deposits covered under section 73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and the rules framed there under. Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable. 

  
(vi)   We have broadly reviewed the records maintained by the Company pursuant to the rules prescribed 

by Central Government for maintenance of cost records under sub section (1) of Section 148 of the 
Act and are of the opinion that prima facie, the prescribed accounts and records have been made 
and maintained. However, we have not made a detailed examination of the records. 

   
(vii)  (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of 

the records of the Company, amounts deducted/ accrued in the books of account in respect of 
undisputed statutory dues including Provident Fund, Employees� State Insurance, Income-tax, 
Duty of Customs, Goods and Services Tax, Cess and other material statutory dues have been 
regularly deposited during the year by the Company with the appropriate authorities. 
 
According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of 
the records of the Company, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Provident Fund, 
Employees� State Insurance, Income-tax, Duty of customs, Goods and Services Tax, Cess and 
other material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 December 2021 for a period of more than six 
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months from the date they became payable. 

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of 
the records of the Company, except as stated in Appendix 1, there are no dues of Income-tax, 
Goods and Services tax, Sales tax, Service tax, Duty of customs, Duty of excise or Value added 
tax which have not been deposited on account of any dispute.  

  
(viii)   According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of 

the records of the Company, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to its bankers. 
The Company did not have any dues payable to any financial institutions, government or 
debentures holders during the year.  

   
(ix)   The Company has not raised any money by way of initial public offer, further public offer 

(including debt instruments) and term loans during the year. Accordingly, the provisions of clause 
3(ix) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

   
(x)   According to the information and explanations given to us, no material fraud by the Company or 

no material fraud on the Company by its officers or employees, has been noticed or reported during 
the year. 
 

(xi)   According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the 
records, the Company has paid or provided for managerial remuneration in accordance with the 
requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act. 

   
(xii)   In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not 

a Nidhi Company. Accordingly, clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable. 
   
(xiii)   According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examinations of the 

records of the Company, transactions with the related parties are in compliance with sections 177 
and 188 of the Act, where applicable. The details of such related party transactions have been 
disclosed in the financial statements as required by applicable accounting standards. 

   
(xiv)   According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the 

records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private 
placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, clause 
3(xiv) of the Order is not applicable. 
 

(xv)   According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the 
records of the Company, the Company has not entered into non-cash transactions with directors or 
persons connected with him. Accordingly, clause 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable. 
 

(xvi)   According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not required to be 
registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. 
 

  

 For B S R & Co. LLP 
 Chartered Accountants 
 Firm�s registration no.: 101248W/W-100022  
  
  
  
  

 Vikram Advani 
 Partner
Place: Delhi Membership No.: 091765 
Date: 17 February 2022 UDIN: 22091765ACXFTN7243 
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditors� report on the financial statements of Nestlé India Limited 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid financial statements under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (�the Act�) 
 
(Referred to in paragraph 1(A)(f) under �Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements� 
section of our report of even date) 
  
Opinion 
 
We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Nestlé India 
Limited (�the Company�) as of 31 December 2021 in conjunction with our audit of the financial statements 
of the Company for the year ended on that date. 
 
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls were operating effectively as at  
31 December 2021, based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria 
established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting  issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India (the �Guidance Note�). 
 
Management�s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 
 
The Company�s management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
internal financial controls based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of 
its business, including adherence to company�s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and 
detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013. 
 
Auditor�s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note 
and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an 
audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements. Those Standards and the 
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements were established and maintained and whether such controls operated effectively in all material 
respects. 
 
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of 
such internal financial controls, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor�s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the Company�s internal financial controls with reference to financial statements. 
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B S R & Co. LLP 

 

 
 
Meaning of Internal Financial controls with Reference to Financial Statements 
 
A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements include those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 
Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial controls with Reference to Financial Statements 
 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements 
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 
 
 

 For B S R & Co. LLP 
 Chartered Accountants 
 Firm's Registration No. 101248W/W-100022 
  
  

 
 

  
 Vikram Advani 
 Partner 
Place: Delhi Membership No. 091765 
Date: 17 February 2022 UDIN: 22091765ACXFTN7243 
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Nestlé India Limited 
(CIN : L15202DL1959PLC003786)   
Nestlé House 
Jacaranda Marg, 
‘M’ Block, DLF City, PHASE – II 
GURUGRAM – 122002, HARYANA 
Phone 0124 - 3940000 
E-mail: corporate@IN.nestle.com
Website  www.nestle.in

Regd. Office: 100 / 101, World Trade Centre, Barakhamba Lane, New Delhi – 110 001

Date: 9th October 2021

To,
The General Manager,
Department of Corporate Services/Listing Compliance,
BSE Limited
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers
Dalal Street, Mumbai – 400 001

BSE Scrip Code: 500790

Ref.: Scheme of arrangement between Nestlé India Limited (“Company”) and its Members under 
Section 230 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 providing for the transfer 
of the balance of general reserves of the Company to the retained earnings of the Company 
(“Scheme”).

Sub.: Report on Complaint in terms of Para I(A)(6) of the SEBI Master Circular No.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2020/249 dated December 22, 2020 as amended from time to time.

Dear Sir/Madam,

This is in reference to the Scheme filed by the Company under Regulation 37 of the SEBI Listing Regulations 
with BSE Limited ("BSE") and subsequent uploading of the said Scheme, along with other relevant documents, 
by BSE on its website on 14th September 2021.

As per Para I(A)(6) of the SEBI Circular, the Company is inter-alia required to submit a "Report on Complaints"
containing the details of complaints received by the Company on the Scheme from various sources, within 7
days of expiry of 21 days from the date of uploading of the draft Scheme and related documents on the website
of the relevant Stock Exchange. The period of 21 days from date the uploading of said documents by BSE on its 
website i.e. 14th September 2021 has expired on 4th October 2021, accordingly, we attach herewith a "Report on 
Complaints", as Annexure-1 to this letter.

The Report on Complaints is also being uploaded on the website of the Company, i.e., www.nestle.in, as per 
requirement of the aforementioned said SEBI Circular.

We request you to take the above on record as compliance under the applicable provisions of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosures Requirement) Regulations, 2015 and SEBI Circulars.

Yours sincerely,
For Nestlé India Limited

B. Murli
General Counsel & Company Secretary

Annexure 6
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Nestlé India Limited 
(CIN : L15202DL1959PLC003786)   
Nestlé House 
Jacaranda Marg, 
‘M’ Block, DLF City, PHASE – II 
GURUGRAM – 122002, HARYANA 
Phone 0124 - 3940000 
E-mail: corporate@IN.nestle.com
Website  www.nestle.in

Regd. Office: 100 / 101, World Trade Centre, Barakhamba Lane, New Delhi – 110 001

Annexure - I

Complaints Report:
[In respect of the Scheme of Arrangements between Nestlé India Limited and its Members]

Period of Complaints Report: 14th September 2021 to 4th October 2021

Part A

Sr.
No.

Particulars Number

1. Number of complaints received directly Nil

2. Number of complaints forwarded by Stock Exchanges/ SEBI Nil

3. Total Number of complaints/comments received (1+2) Nil

4. Number of complaints resolved Not Applicable

5. Number of complaints pending Not Applicable

Part B

Sr.
No.

Name of complainant Date of complaint Status 
(Resolved/Pending)

1. Not Applicable

Yours sincerely,
For Nestlé India Limited

B. Murli
General Counsel & Company Secretary
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DCS/AMAL/MJ/R37/2174/2021-22 “E-Letter” December 16 ,2021

The Company Secretary,
NESTLE INDIA LTD.
100/101, World Trade Centre, 
Barakhamba Lane, New Delhi- 110001.

Dear Sir,

Sub: Observation letter regarding Draft Scheme of Arrangement between Nestle India Limited and its 
Members for transfer of the balance of the general reserve of the Company to the retained earnings of the 
Company.

We are in receipt of the Draft Scheme of Arrangement of Nestle India Limited as required under SEBI Circular 
No. CFD/DIL3/CIR/2017/21 dated March 10, 2017; SEBI vide its letter dated December 16, 2021 has inter alia 
given the following comment(s) on the draft scheme of Arrangement: 

• “Company shall ensure that additional information and undertakings, if any, submitted by the
Company, after filing the Scheme with the Stock Exchanges, and from the date of receipt of this
letter is displayed on the websites of the listed company and the stock exchanges.”

• “Company shall duly comply with various provisions of the Circular.”

• “Company shall ensure that disclosure of the enforcement proceedings against Ms. Roopa
Kudva. The same shall also be disclosed in the explanatory statement or notice accompanying
the resolution to be passed, sent to the shareholders while seeking their approval.”

• “Company is advised that the observations of SEBI/Stock Exchanges shall be incorporated in the
petition to be filed before National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT) and the company is obliged to
bring the observations to the notice of NCLT."

• “It is to be noted that the petitions are filed by the company before NCLT after processing and
communication of comments/observations on draft scheme by SEBI/stock exchange. Hence, the
company is not required to send notice for representation as mandated under section 230(5) of
Companies Act, 2013 to SEBI again for its comments / observations / representations.”

Accordingly, based on aforesaid comment offered by SEBI, the company is hereby advised:

• To provide additional information, if any, (as stated above) along with various documents to the Exchange
for further dissemination on Exchange website.
• To ensure that additional information, if any, (as stated aforesaid) along with various documents are
disseminated on their (company) website.
• To duly comply with various provisions of the circulars.

In light of the above, we hereby advise that we have no adverse observations with limited reference to those 
matters having a bearing on listing/de-listing/continuous listing requirements within the provisions of Listing 
Agreement, so as to enable the company to file the scheme with Hon’ble NCLT. 

Further, where applicable in the explanatory statement of the notice to be sent by the company to the 
shareholders, while seeking approval of the scheme, it shall disclose information about unlisted company involved 
in the format prescribed for abridged prospectus as specified in the circular dated March 10, 2017. 

Annexure 7
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Kindly   note   that   as   required   under Regulation 37(3) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the validity of this Observation Letter shall be six months from the date of this 
Letter, within which the scheme shall be submitted to the NCLT. 

The Exchange reserves its right to withdraw its ‘No adverse observation’ at any stage if the information submitted 
to the Exchange is found to be incomplete / incorrect / misleading / false or for any contravention of Rules, Bye-
laws and Regulations of the Exchange, Listing Agreement, Guidelines/Regulations issued by statutory authorities.
Please note that the aforesaid observations does not preclude the Company from complying with any other 
requirements.

Further, it may be noted that with reference to Section 230 (5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (Act), read with Rule 
8 of Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules 2016 (Company Rules) and Section 
66 of the Act read with Rule 3 of the Company Rules wherein pursuant to an Order passed by the Hon’ble 
National Company Law Tribunal, a Notice of the proposed scheme of compromise or arrangement filed under 
sections 230-232 or Section 66 of the Companies Act 2013 as the case may be is required to be served upon 
the Exchange seeking representations or objections if any.

In this regard, with a view to have a better transparency in processing the aforesaid notices served upon the 
Exchange, the Exchange has already introduced an online system of serving such Notice along with the 
relevant documents of the proposed schemes through the BSE Listing Centre.

Any service of notice under Section 230 (5) or Section 66 of the Companies Act 2013 seeking Exchange’s
representations or objections if any, would be accepted and processed through the Listing Centre only and
no physical filings would be accepted. You may please refer to circular dated February 26, 2019 issued to the
company.

Yours faithfully,

Sd/-
Prasad Bhide
Manager
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